
 

 

October 24, 2012 

 

The Honorable Kathleen Sebelius 

Secretary 

Department of Health and Human Services 

200 Independence Ave. SW 

Washington, DC 20201 

 

Dear Secretary Sebelius: 

 

You and your senior leadership team undoubtedly have been receiving daily, if not more 

frequent, briefings regarding the ever-expanding outbreak of life-threatening fungal meningitis in 

back pain patients exposed to contaminated steroid injections prepared by a compounding 

pharmacy. So far, the tainted drug has sickened at least 308 patients and killed 23, across 17 

states. What is particularly tragic about this public health catastrophe is that it was completely 

avoidable.  

 

The immediate priorities of your department obviously involve responding to the health needs of 

the affected patients and limiting further exposure to potentially contaminated drugs produced by 

the New England Compounding Center (NECC) in Framingham, Massachusetts, the 

compounding pharmacy identified as the source of this infectious disease outbreak. 

 

To protect the public interest, however, it also is imperative that all parties contributing to this 

crisis be identified and held accountable. Among such parties is the Food and Drug 

Administration (FDA), which has failed to use its existing, long-established legal authority to 

effectively regulate the large-scale production and distribution of drugs by companies acting 

under the guise of compounding pharmacies. 

 

The FDA clearly plays the central role at the federal level in the regulatory oversight of 

compounding pharmacies. Indeed, over the last decade, the agency has been remarkably 

consistent and unwavering in asserting its legal authority over such companies, particularly those 

that engage in drug manufacturing through the large-scale production and distribution of 

standardized versions of drugs. 

 

The enclosed appendix provides pertinent excerpts from a small sample of policy documents and 

letters issued by the FDA between 2002 and 2012, confirming and articulating the agency’s 

regulatory authority over compounding pharmacies.  

 

Against the long-standing historical backdrop of such aggressively asserted legal authority, we 

were stunned to read the following in an article in The Washington Post describing a 
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teleconference — certainly carefully orchestrated and cleared by the highest officials within the 

agency — involving FDA officials and reporters that took place on October 11, 2012:
1
 

 

Federal and Massachusetts officials said Thursday that they lacked clear authority to 

take action earlier against a now-shuttered specialty pharmacy [NECC] that set off 

safety alarms at least six years ago and is now at the center of a burgeoning meningitis 

outbreak [emphasis added]. 

 

In a teleconference with reporters, the officials described a murky, archaic regulatory 

apparatus that hampered their ability to keep pace with the rapid changes in compounding 

pharmacies. That industry, which traditionally has consisted of mom-and-pop operations 

making customized medicines for individual patients, has expanded to include high-

volume pharmacies that rival the production of drug manufacturers. 

 

Deborah M. Autor, deputy Food and Drug Administration commissioner for global 

operations and policy, said it was “really unfortunate that it sometimes takes a 

tragedy” to bring about change and called on industry officials and lawmakers to 

adopt a new “regulatory scheme that appropriately controls the risk [emphasis 

added].” She also said the company could face criminal prosecution. 

 

The officials were responding to questions about why state and federal authorities didn’t 

move more aggressively against New England Compounding Center in Framingham, 

Mass., after the FDA found problems during an inspection in 2006. 

 

Public Citizen is deeply troubled by this attempt by one of the most senior figures within the 

FDA to deflect criticism for the agency’s failures with respect to the fungal meningitis outbreak 

by claiming that the agency lacked the legal authority to take earlier action against NECC. Such 

statements appear to be a deliberate attempt to mislead the public, and they directly contradict 

the FDA’s own long-stated authoritative legal position.  

 

While no one relishes being viewed as culpable for a public health crisis, the FDA’s attempt to 

dodge responsibility in this matter is outrageous.  

 

The FDA clearly is incapable of conducting an objective evaluation of its own policy, oversight, 

and enforcement decisions, which clearly contributed to this ongoing preventable tragedy. 

Therefore, Public Citizen urges you to appoint an independent entity — such as your 

department’s Office of Inspector General, which has previously investigated serious problems 

within the FDA — to conduct a thorough investigation. This investigation must identify all FDA 

officials whose actions and decisions contributed to the agency’s failure to prevent this public 

health catastrophe. Ultimately, the senior leadership within the Office of the Commissioner, the 

Center for Drug Evaluation and Research, and the Office of Chief Counsel must be held 

accountable. The American public deserves no less.  

 

                                                
1
 Sun LH, Kliff S, Brown D. Officials say they lacked authority over pharmacy involved in meningitis outbreak. The 

Washington Post. October 11, 2012. Available at http://www.washingtonpost.com/national/health-science/officials-

say-they-lacked-authority-over-pharmacy-involved-in-meningitis-outbreak/2012/10/11/331d1c4a-13e8-11e2-bf18-

a8a596df4bee_print.html. Accessed October 23, 2012. 

http://www.washingtonpost.com/national/health-science/officials-say-they-lacked-authority-over-pharmacy-involved-in-meningitis-outbreak/2012/10/11/331d1c4a-13e8-11e2-bf18-a8a596df4bee_print.html
http://www.washingtonpost.com/national/health-science/officials-say-they-lacked-authority-over-pharmacy-involved-in-meningitis-outbreak/2012/10/11/331d1c4a-13e8-11e2-bf18-a8a596df4bee_print.html
http://www.washingtonpost.com/national/health-science/officials-say-they-lacked-authority-over-pharmacy-involved-in-meningitis-outbreak/2012/10/11/331d1c4a-13e8-11e2-bf18-a8a596df4bee_print.html
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Thank you for your attention to this important public health matter.   

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

 

 

Michael A. Carome, M.D. 

Deputy Director 

Public Citizen’s Health Research Group 

 

 

 

 

Sidney M. Wolfe, M.D. 

Director 

Public Citizen’s Health Research Group 

 

cc: Daniel R. Levinson, J.D., LL.M., Inspector General, U.S. Department of Health and Human  

Services 

 

Enclosure 
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Appendix: Excerpts from a Sample of FDA Documents Demonstrating the Agency’s 

Consistent Assertion of Legal Authority over Compounding Pharmacies, 

2002-2012 

 

Compliance Policy Guides Manual – Section 460.200 Pharmacy Compounding
2
 

 

FDA recognizes that pharmacists traditionally have extemporaneously compounded and 

manipulated reasonable quantities of human drugs upon receipt of a valid prescription for 

an individually identified patient from a licensed practitioner. This traditional activity is 

not the subject of this guidance. 

 

FDA believes that an increasing number of establishments with retail pharmacy licenses 

are engaged in manufacturing and distributing unapproved new drugs for human 

use in a manner that is clearly outside the bounds of traditional pharmacy practice 

and that violates the Act [emphasis added]. Such establishments and their activities are 

the focus of this guidance. Some “pharmacies” that have sought to find shelter under and 

expand the scope of the exemptions applicable to traditional retail pharmacies have 

claimed that their manufacturing and distribution practices are only the regular course of 

the practice of pharmacy. Yet, the practices of many of these entities seem far more 

consistent with those of drug manufacturers and wholesalers than with those of retail 

pharmacies. For example, some firms receive and use large quantities of bulk drug 

substances to manufacture large quantities of unapproved drug products in advance of 

receiving a valid prescription for them. Moreover, some firms sell to physicians and 

patients with whom they have only a remote professional relationship. Pharmacies 

engaged in activities analogous to manufacturing and distributing drugs for human 

use may be held to the same provisions of the Act as manufacturers [emphasis 

added]. … 

 

However, when the scope and nature of a pharmacy's activities raise the kinds of 

concerns normally associated with a drug manufacturer and result in significant 

violations of the new drug, adulteration, or misbranding provisions of the Act, FDA has 

determined that it should seriously consider enforcement action. … 

 

FDA-initiated regulatory action may include issuing a warning letter, seizure, 

injunction, and/or prosecution. Charges may include, but need not be limited to, 

violations of 21 U.S.C. §§ 351(a)(2)(B), 352(a), 352(f)(1), 352(o), and 355(a) of the 

Act [emphasis added].  

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                
2
 The Food and Drug Administration. CPG Sec. 460.200 pharmacy compounding. May 29, 2002. Available at 

http://www.fda.gov/ICECI/ComplianceManuals/CompliancePolicyGuidanceManual/ucm074398.htm. Accessed 

October 22, 2012. 

http://www.fda.gov/ICECI/ComplianceManuals/CompliancePolicyGuidanceManual/ucm074398.htm
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December 9, 2004, warning letter to Lincare, Inc., and Reliant Pharmacy Services, Clearwater, 

Florida
3
 

 

[T]he agency now utilizes its longstanding policy of exercising its enforcement 

discretion regarding certain types of pharmacy compounding [emphasis added]. This 

policy is articulated in Compliance Policy Guide (CPG), Section 460.200, issued on June 

7, 2002. The CPG contains factors the agency considers in deciding whether to exercise 

its enforcement discretion. One factor the agency considers is whether a compounded 

product is a copy of a commercially available product and, if so, whether there is patient-

specific documentation of a medical need for the compounded product.  

 

Based on our inspection, we have determined your operation is akin to that of a drug 

manufacturer. Relevant findings include the following:  

 

 Your firm’s acetylcysteine products are the same strengths (10% and 20%) as 

those available commercially. The commercial products are available as 10 ml 

and 30 ml multidose vials, whereas your firm's products are available as 0.5 ml 

and 5 ml single dose vials. We do not view the availability of single-dose vials as 

meaningful distinction between your products and commercially available 

products. 

 

 The strengths and sizes of your firm’s budesonide products are the same as the 

commercially available products. We acknowledge the commercially available 

products are suspensions and your firm's products are solutions, but we do not 

regard this as a meaningful distinction and your firm’s records fail to document 

patient-specific medical need for the compounded solutions. There is also no 

documentation physicians were told of and/or approved the use of your 

compounded products in lieu of the commercially available, FDA-approved 

products.  … 

 

Your firm’s operation violates the following Sections of the Act [emphasis added]: 

  

Section 505 

Your firm’s inhalation solutions are “drugs” and “new drugs” within the meaning of 

Sections 201(g) and (p), respectively, of the Act. Under Section 505 of the Act, they may 

not be introduced or delivered for introduction into interstate commerce because 

they lack approved applications [emphasis added].  

 

Section 502(o) 

Since your firm manufactures and dispenses drugs in a manner exceeding the bounds of 

traditional pharmacy compounding, it is not exempt from the registration and drug listing 

requirements under 21 CFR 207.10 and Section 510 of the Act. Thus, your drug 

products are misbranded under Section 502(o) of the Act because they are not listed 

or manufactured in a duly registered establishment [emphasis added].  

                                                
3
 The Food and Drug Administration. Warning Letter  to Lincare, Inc. and Reliant Pharmacy Services, Inc. 

December 9, 2004. Available at 

http://www.fda.gov/ICECI/EnforcementActions/WarningLetters/2004/ucm146702.htm. Accessed October 22, 2012. 

http://www.fda.gov/ICECI/EnforcementActions/WarningLetters/2004/ucm146702.htm
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In addition to the above violations as a drug manufacturer, you must comply with the 

Act’s Current Good Manufacturing Practice requirements (Section 501(a)(2)(B) of 

the Act and 21 CFR 211) [emphasis added].  

 

December 4, 2006, warning letter to the New England Compounding Center, Framingham, 

Massachusetts.
4
 

 

FDA’s position is that the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (FDCA) establishes 

agency jurisdiction over “new drugs,” including compounded drugs. FDA’s view that 

compounded drugs are “new drugs” within the meaning of 21 U.S.C. § 321(p), because 

they are not “generally recognized, among experts . . . as safe and effective,” is supported 

by substantial judicial authority. See Weinberger v. Hynson, Westcott & Dunning, 412 

U.S. 609, 619, 629-30 (1973) (explaining the definition of “new drug”); Prof’ls & 

Patients for Customized Care v. Shalala, 56 F.3d 592, 593 n.3 (5th Cir. 1995) (the FDCA 

does not expressly exempt pharmacies or compounded drugs from its new drug 

provisions); In the Matter of Establishment Inspection of: Wedgewood Village 

Pharmacy, 270 F. Supp. 2d 525, 543-44 (D.N.J. 2003), aff'd, Wedgewood Village 

Pharmacy v. United States, 421 F.3d 263, 269 (3d Cir. 2005) (“The FDCA contains 

provisions with explicit exemptions from the new drug . . . provisions. Neither 

pharmacies nor compounded drugs are expressly exempted.”). FDA maintains that, 

because they are “new drugs” under the FDCA, compounded drugs may not be 

introduced into interstate commerce without FDA approval [emphasis added]. … 

 

Through the exercise of enforcement discretion, FDA historically has not taken 

enforcement actions against pharmacies engaged in traditional pharmacy compounding 

[emphasis added]. Rather, FDA has directed its enforcement resources against 

establishments whose activities raise the kinds of concerns normally associated with 

a drug manufacturer and whose compounding practices result in significant 

violations of the new drug, adulteration, or misbranding provisions of the FDCA 
[emphasis added]. … 

 

Further, on December 16, 2004, trypan blue ophthalmic solution was approved by FDA 

and it is commercially available. As stated in the CPG, FDA will not exercise its 

enforcement discretion for the compounding of copies of commercially available 

FDA-approved products, including this one [emphasis added]. 

 

All products compounded by your firm containing trypan blue or [aminolevulinic acid] 

are drugs within the meaning of section 201(g) of the FDCA (21 U.S.C. § 321(g)) 

[emphasis added]. These products are misbranded under section 502(f)(1) of the 

FDCA (21 U.S.C. § 352(f)(1)) in that their labeling fails to bear adequate directions for 

their use [emphasis added]. They are not exempt from this requirement under 21 CFR § 

201.115 because they are new drugs within the meaning of section 201(p) of the FDCA 

                                                
4
 The Food and Drug Administration. Warning letter to the New England Compounding Center. December 4, 2006. 

Available at http://www.fda.gov/ICECI/EnforcementActions/WarningLetters/2006/ucm076196.htm. Accessed 

October 22, 2012. 

http://www.fda.gov/ICECI/EnforcementActions/WarningLetters/2006/ucm076196.htm
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and they lack approved applications filed pursuant to section 505 of the FDCA (21 

U.S.C. § 355) [emphasis added]. … 

 

The Extra Strength Triple Anesthetic Cream compounded by your firm is a drug within 

the meaning of section 201(g) of the FDCA (21 U.S.C. § 321(g)) [emphasis added]. 

This product is misbranded under section 502(f)(1) of the FDCA (21 U.S.C. § 

352(f)(1)) in that its labeling fails to bear adequate directions for its use [emphasis 

added]. It is not exempt from this requirement under 21 CFR § 201.115, because it is a 

new drug within the meaning of section 201(p) of the FDCA that lacks an approved 

application filed pursuant to section 505 of the FDCA (21 U.S.C. § 355) [emphasis 

added]. … 

 

Avastin is approved for use in the treatment of colorectal cancers. The text of your 

alleged promotional material offers this drug to ophthalmologists. Avastin has no 

approved indications for use in the eye. As such, your firm is distributing an 

unapproved new drug in violation of section 505 of the FDCA [emphasis added]. 

Because the product lacks adequate labeling for its intended use (see 21 CFR § 

201.128) your firm is also distributing a misbranded drug in violation of section 

502(f)(1) of the FDCA (21 U.S.C. § 352(f)(1)) [emphasis added]. Also, please note that, 

under section 301(a) of the FDCA (21 U.S.C. § 331(a)), the introduction or delivery for 

introduction into interstate commerce of any drug that is misbranded is prohibited. 

 

Under section 301(d) of the FDCA (21 U.S.C. § 331(d)), the introduction or delivery 

for introduction into interstate commerce of a new drug that has not been approved 

under section 505 is also prohibited [emphasis added]. 

 

December 5, 2006, FDA news release entitled FDA Warns Five Firms to Stop Compounding 

Topical Anesthetic Creams
5
 

 

The Food and Drug Administration (FDA) is warning five firms, Triangle Compounding 

Pharmacy, University Pharmacy, Custom Scripts Pharmacy, Hal’s Compounding 

Pharmacy, and New England Compounding Center, to stop compounding and 

distributing standardized versions of topical anesthetic creams, which are marketed 

for general distribution rather than responding to the unique medical needs of 

individual patients [emphasis added]. Firms that do not resolve violations in FDA 

warning letters risk enforcement such as injunctions against continuing violations 

and seizure of illegal products [emphasis added]. … 

 

FDA-approved topical anesthetic products are commercially available and properly 

labeled, and are regularly used in health-care settings. However, some pharmacies create 

their own standardized versions of these products, often including combinations of 

ingredients and ingredients at higher strengths than found in FDA-approved products, and 

often lacking appropriate warnings or directions for use. 

                                                
5
 The Food and Drug Administration. FDA news release: FDA warns five firms to stop compounding topical 

anesthetic creams. December 5, 2006. Available at 

http://www.fda.gov/NewsEvents/Newsroom/PressAnnouncements/2006/ucm108793.htm. Accessed October 22, 

2012. 

http://www.fda.gov/NewsEvents/Newsroom/PressAnnouncements/2006/ucm108793.htm
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The five firms warned by FDA have stated that they produce their topical anesthetic 

creams as part of the practice of pharmacy compounding. Traditional pharmacy 

compounding typically involves pharmacies preparing drugs that are not commercially 

available, such as a unique medicine for a patient who is allergic to an ingredient in a 

FDA-approved drug. This kind of compounding follows a physician’s decision that his or 

her patient has a special medical need that cannot be met by FDA-approved drugs. 

 

FDA normally permits such traditional pharmacy compounding and the agency’s action 

is not targeting this practice. By contrast, FDA is concerned that the five firms 

receiving warning letters are behaving like drug manufacturers, not traditional 

compounding pharmacies, because they produce standardized versions of topical 

anesthetic creams for general distribution [emphasis added]. 

 

January 7, 2008, warning letter to Pharmacy Compounding Specialties, Dallas, Texas
6
 

 

Under section 502(a) of the FDCA, a drug is misbranded if its labeling is false or 

misleading in any particular. Section 201(n) of the FDCA [21 U.S.C. § 321(n)] provides 

that, in determining whether a drug's labeling or advertising “is misleading, there shall be 

taken into account... not only representations made or suggested... but also the extent to 

which the labeling or advertising... fails to reveal facts material in light of such 

representations....”  

 

Your website advises that you compound hormone therapy drugs that are available for 

purchase and distribution. These compounded hormone therapy drugs are 

misbranded within the meaning of section 502(a) of the FDCA for the following 

reasons [emphasis added]: 

  

1. Unsubstantiated Efficacy Claims… 

 

Your firm’s website contains claims concerning your firm’s compounded hormone 

therapy drugs, including:  

- “Protection against fibrocystic breast disease”  

- “Protection against cardiovascular disease, the #1 killer of women” 

- “Acts as a natural antidepressant and enhances sleep”  

- “Maintains thyroid function and normalizes blood sugar levels” 

  

FDA regards these claims as false and misleading. FDA is not aware of substantial 

evidence (consisting of adequate and well controlled clinical investigations) that supports 

these claims.  

 

 

 

 

                                                
6
 The Food and Drug Administration. Warning letter to Pharmacy Compounding Specialties. January 7, 2008. 

Available at http://www.fda.gov/ICECI/EnforcementActions/WarningLetters/2008/ucm1048445.htm. Accessed 

October 22, 2012 . 

http://www.fda.gov/ICECI/EnforcementActions/WarningLetters/2008/ucm1048445.htm
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2. Unsubstantiated Superiority Claims 

 

Your firm's website contains a statement suggesting the superiority of your firm's 

compounded hormone therapy drugs:  

 

-“Progesterone-not to be confused with synthetic progestins cited in the published studies 

as putting women at risk of disease and the side effects of fluid retention, irritability and 

depression, natural progesterone has many positive benefits.” 

 

This statement represents and suggests that your firm’s compounded hormone therapy 

drugs are superior to other hormone therapy products, including FDA-approved drugs. 

This claim—which is unsupported by substantial (consisting of adequate and well 

controlled clinical investigations)—is false and misleading. 

 

3. Unsubstantiated “Bio-identical” Claims 

 

Your website claims that your firm’s compounded hormone therapy drugs are “bio-

identical.” This claim implies that your compounded hormone therapy drugs are natural, 

or identical to the hormones made by the body. FDA is unaware of substantial evidence 

(consisting of adequate and well controlled clinical investigations) to support the claimed 

“bio-identical” nature of your hormone therapy drugs.  

 

As explained above, the claims made for your hormone therapy drugs are false and 

misleading in that they are not supported by substantial evidence. These claims 

cause your hormone therapy drugs to be misbranded under section 502(a) of the 

FDCA [emphasis added]. 

 

B. Unapproved New Drug Under Section 505 of the FDCA: Estriol  

 

Because your products are intended to treat, mitigate, and prevent disease (a conclusion 

supported by the claims described above), the estriol products compounded by your 

firm are drugs within the meaning of section 201(g) of the FDCA [21 U.S.C. § 

321(g)] [emphasis added]. Further, as these products are not generally recognized by 

qualified experts as safe and effective for their labeled uses, they are new drugs, as 

defined by section 201(p) of the FDCA [21 U.S.C.§ 321(p)] [emphasis added]. No 

FDA-approved applications pursuant to section 505 of the FDCA [21 U.S.C. § 355] are 

effective with respect to these drugs.  

Accordingly, their introduction or delivery for introduction into interstate 

commerce violates section 505(a) of the Act [21 U.S.C. § 355(a)] [emphasis added].  

 

The FDCA establishes agency jurisdiction over "new drugs," including compounded 

drugs. Compounded drugs are "new drugs" within the meaning of 21 U.S.C. § 321(p), 

because they are not "generally recognized, among experts... as safe and effective" for 

their labeled uses. … 

 

The drugs that pharmacists compound are not FDA-approved and thus lack an FDA 

finding of safety and efficacy. However, FDA has long recognized the important public 

health function served by traditional pharmacy compounding. FDA regards traditional 
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compounding as the extemporaneous combining, mixing, or altering of ingredients by a 

pharmacist in response to a physician's prescription to create a medication tailored to the 

specialized needs of an individual patient. See Thompson v. Westem States Medical 

Center, 535 U.S. 357, 360-61 (2002). Traditional compounding typically is used to 

prepare medications that are not available commercially, such as a drug for a patient who 

is allergic to an ingredient in a mass-produced drug, or diluted dosages for children.  

 

FDA’s current enforcement policy with respect to the compounding of human drugs is 

articulated in Compliance Policy Guide section 460.200 [“Pharmacy Compounding”], 

issued by FDA on May 29, 2002 (see Notice of Availability, 67 Fed. Reg. 39,409 (June 7, 

2002)). The CPG identifies factors that the Agency considers in deciding whether to 

initiate enforcement action with respect to compounding. These factors include whether a 

firm is “[c]ompounding finished drugs from bulk active ingredients that are not 

components of FDA approved drugs without an FDA sanctioned investigational new 

drug application (IND) in accordance with 21 U.S.C. § 355(i) and 21 CFR 312.”  

 

November 12, 2008, warning letter to Steven’s Pharmacy, Costa Mesa, California
7
 

 

Your firm purports to be a compounding pharmacy, but our investigation found that your 

operation exceeds the practices associated with traditional extemporaneous 

compounding and is more akin to that of a drug manufacturer [emphasis added]. 

Your firm manufactures large volumes of drugs including, but not limited to, [(b)(4)] 

standardized topical anesthetic drugs (“Profound Gel,” and “Profound Gel Light”), 

[(b)(4)] products in anticipation of receiving prescriptions. … 

 

The production of these volumes of standardized prescription drug products is 

inconsistent with traditional extemporaneous compounding, which involves 

compounding a medication based on a specific medical need of an individually-identified 

patient. For commonly ordered compounded prescription drugs, your firm produces drugs 

in anticipation of receiving prescriptions. Such anticipatory inventory of topical 

anesthetic drugs was noted during the recent FDA inspection of your firm. … 

In addition to producing drug products in anticipation of receiving prescriptions, your 

firm produces large volumes of compounded products, including copies of FDA-

approved commercially available products. Examples include [(b)(4)] and [(b)(4)]. Other 

products compounded by your firm are essentially copies of FDA-approved 

commercially available products, including alternate oral dosage forms, such as [(b)(4)] 

These essential copies appear to be produced without a documented patient-specific 

medical need, as determined by a licensed healthcare provider, for these versions of 

otherwise commercially available drugs.  

 

During the inspection, you stated that approximately [(b)(4)] of all finished drug products 

are distributed outside of California. Your firm is engaged in the commercial-level 

distribution of standardized drug products, as you provide preprinted order forms 

and promotional material to practitioners and obtain orders from dentists that 

                                                
7
 The Food and Drug Administration. Warning letter to Steven’s Pharmacy. November 12, 2008. Available at 

http://www.fda.gov/ICECI/EnforcementActions/WarningLetters/2008/ucm1048074.htm. Accessed October 22, 

2012. 

http://www.fda.gov/ICECI/EnforcementActions/WarningLetters/2008/ucm1048074.htm
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contain a list of drugs to be compounded by your firm, including for your topical 

anesthetic prescription drug products [emphasis added]. Moreover, the use of the terms 

“Profound Gel” and “Profound Gel Light” implies the standardization of a compounded 

drug product rather than extemporaneous compounding for individually-identified 

patients. This practice is outside the traditional scope of pharmacy compounding 

and more akin to that of a drug manufacturer [emphasis added]. … 

 

C. Violations of the FDCA  

 

Unapproved New Drug Products  

 

The aforementioned products made by your firm are drugs within the meaning of 

Section 201(g) of the FDCA [21 USC § 321(g)] [emphasis added]. These products are 

new drugs as defined by Section 201(p) of the FDCA [21 USC § 321(p)], because they 

are not generally recognized by qualified experts as safe and effective for their labeled 

uses [emphasis added]. No approved application pursuant to Section 505 of the FDCA 

[21 USC § 355] is in effect for these products. Accordingly, their introduction or 

delivery for introduction into interstate commerce violates Sections 505(a) and 

301(d) of the FDCA [21 USC §§ 355(a) and 331(d)] [emphasis added]. 

  

Misbranded Drug Products 

  

Your firm's drug products are misbranded under Section 502(1)(1) of the FDCA [21 

USC § 352(f)(1)] because their labeling fails to bear adequate directions for use 
[emphasis added] and they are not exempt from this requirement under Title 21, Code of 

Federal Regulations [emphasis in original], Part 201, Section 115 (21 CFR§ 201.115).  

 

Your firm's drug products are also misbranded under Section 502(o) of the FDCA 
[21 USC § 352(o)] because they are manufactured in an establishment not duly 

registered under Section 510 of the FDCA [21 USC § 360], and the articles have not 

been listed as required by Section 510(j) of the FDCA [21 USC § 360(j)] [emphasis 

added]. Your facility is not exempt from registration and drug listing requirements under 

21 CFR § 207.10 or Section 510(g) of the FDCA [21 USC § 360(g)]. Your firm’s 

topical anesthetic drug products, including Profound Gel and Profound Gel Light, 

are misbranded under Section 502(a) of the FDCA [21 U.S.C. § 352(a)], as further 

defined in Section 201(n), 21 U.S.C. § 321(n), because their labels fail to reveal 

adequate information to support the safe use of the products, contain limited dosing 

information, and contain no clear indication and intended route of administration, 

facts material with respect to adverse health consequences that may result from the 

use of the articles by individuals with underlying medical conditions or those 

otherwise at risk for adverse drug side effects [emphasis added].  

 

D. Conclusion…  

 

You should take prompt action to correct the violations cited in this letter. Failure to 

promptly correct these violations may result in legal action without further notice, 

including, without limitation, seizure and injunction [emphasis added]. 
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September 28, 2009, warning letter to Hopewell Pharmacy and Compounding Center, Hopewell, 

New Jersey
8
 

 

[T]his Warning Letter concerns Hopewell's compounding of Sodium Tetradecyl Sulfate 

(STS) Injection, 2%, 4% and 5%. The STS Injection, 2%, 4% and 5% strengths made 

by Hopewell are drugs within the meaning of section 201 (g) of the Federal Food, 

Drug, and Cosmetic Act (FDCA) [21 U.S.C. § 321 (g)] [emphasis added]. As discussed 

below, these drugs and your production and distribution of these drugs violate the 

FDCA [emphasis added]. 

 

Factual Background 

 

On June 4, 2008, a U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) investigator conducted an 

inspection of your facility, located at West Broad Street, Hopewell, NJ. During the 

inspection, our investigator collected samples of Sodium Tetradecyl Sulfate (STS) 

finished product and active pharmaceutical ingredient. The Hopewell, NJ facility is 

licensed by the State of New Jersey Board of Pharmacy as a retail community pharmacy. 

The June 2008 inspection was a follow-up to assess whether commitments made 

during the October 2006 FDA inspection, regarding the discontinuation of the 

compounding of STS Injection, 1% and 3%, were upheld [emphasis added]. This 

inspection found that your firm currently compounds STS Injection, 2%, 4% and 5% 

only. On June 4, 2008, FDA collected samples, consisting of 6 finished vials of STS 

Injection, 4%; 6 finished vials of STS Injection, 5%; STS aqueous stock solution, 27%; 

and the powder STS active pharmaceutical ingredient. These samples were subsequently 

analyzed by FDA and determined to be adulterated due to the presence of a contaminant, 

diethylene glycol monoethyl ether (DEGMEE), in the STS finished products and the STS 

aqueous stock solution. 

 

Violations of the FDCA 

 

Adulterated Drug Product 

 

Analysis of the 6 finished vials of STS Injection, 4%; the 6 finished vials of STS 

Injection, 5%; and the STS aqueous stock solution, 27% indicates the presence of the 

DEGMEE contaminant in the aqueous stock solution and finished product samples. 

Hopewell's STS Injection, 4% and 5% are adulterated under section 501(c) and 

(d)(1) of the FDCA [21 U.S.C. § 351(c) and (d)(1)] [emphasis added]. These drug 

products are adulterated within the meaning of section 501(c) [21 U.S.C. § 351(c)] in 

that they are drugs that are not recognized in an official compendium and their 

strengths differ from, or their quality or purity fall below, that which they purport 

or are represented to possess [emphasis added]. Further, DEGMEE has not been 

studied for use in injectable drugs and there are no approved drugs for injection that 

contain this material. 

 

                                                
8
 The Food and Drug Administration. Warning letter to the Hopewell Pharmacy and Compounding Center. 

September 28, 2009. Available at 

http://www.fda.gov/ICECI/EnforcementActions/WarningLetters/2009/ucm188449.htm. Accessed October 22, 2012. 

http://www.fda.gov/ICECI/EnforcementActions/WarningLetters/2009/ucm188449.htm
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Accordingly, there is no assurance of the safety of an injectable drug product containing 

DEGMEE. These drug products are also adulterated within the meaning of section 

501(d)(1) of the FDCA [21 U.S.C. § 351(d)(1)] in that they are drugs and contain a 

substance, diethylene glycol monoethyl ether (DEGMEE), mixed therewith so as to 

reduce their quality or strength. 

 

Conclusion … 

 

You should take prompt action to correct the violations cited in this letter. Failure to 

promptly correct these violations may result in legal action without further notice, 

including, without limitation, seizure and injunction [emphasis added].   

 

April 9, 2010, warning letter to J & F International Inc., dba Alexandria Medical Arts Pharmacy 

& Compounding Laboratory, Alexandria, Virginia
9
 

 

The FDCA establishes agency jurisdiction over “new drugs,” including compounded 

drugs [emphasis added]. Compounded drugs fit within the FDCA's definition of “new 

drug”: “[a]ny drug (except a new animal drug ...) [that] is not generally recognized ... as 

safe and effective for use under the conditions prescribed, recommended, or suggested in 

the labeling thereof.” 21 U.S.C. § 321 (p)(1). See also Weinberger v. Hynson, Westcott & 

Dunning, 412 U.S. 609, 619, 629-30 (1973) (explaining the definition of "new drug"). 

There is substantial judicial authority supporting FDA’s position that compounded 

drugs are not exempt from the new drug definition [emphasis added]. See Medical 

Ctr. Pharm. v. Mukasey, 536 F.3d 383 (5th Cir. 2008) (“compounded drugs are not 

exempt from the FDCA’s ‘new drug’ definition, § 321(p), nor are they uniformly exempt 

from the FDCA’s ‘new drug’ requirements, §§ 351(a)(2)(B), 352(f)(1), 355”); Prof'ls & 

Patients for Customized Care v. Shalala, 56 F.3d 592, 593 n.3 (5th Cir. 1995) (“Although 

the [FDCA] does not expressly exempt ‘pharmacies’ or ‘compounded drugs’ from the 

new drug ... provisions, the FDA as a matter of policy has not historically brought 

enforcement actions against pharmacies engaged in traditional compounding.”); In the 

Matter of Establishment Inspection of Wedgewood Village Pharm., 270 F. Supp. 2d 

525,543-44 (D.N.J. 2003) (“The FDCA contains provisions with explicit exemptions 

[from] the new drug ... provisions. Neither pharmacies nor compounded drugs are 

expressly exempted.”), aff’d, Wedgewood Village Pharm. v. United States, 421 F.3d 263, 

269 (3d Cir. 2005). The drugs that pharmacists compound are not FDA-approved 

and lack an FDA finding of safety and efficacy. Because compounded drugs are 

“new drugs” under the FDCA that are unapproved, the statute generally prohibits 

their introduction into interstate commerce [emphasis added]. …  

 

In May of 2002, FDA issued a revised compliance policy guide (CPG) on pharmacy 

compounding, CPG Sec. 460.200 ["Pharmacy Compounding"], which explained how the 

Agency would address pharmacy compounding following the Supreme Court’s decision. 

The CPG sets forth a non-exhaustive list of factors that FDA considers in determining 

                                                
9
 The Food and Drug Administration. Warning letter to J & F International Inc., dba Alexandria Medical Arts 

Pharmacy & Compounding Laboratory. April 9, 2010. Available at 

http://www.fda.gov/ICECI/EnforcementActions/WarningLetters/2010/ucm208772.htm. Accessed October 22, 2012. 

http://www.fda.gov/ICECI/EnforcementActions/WarningLetters/2010/ucm208772.htm
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whether to take enforcement action when the scope and nature of a pharmacy's activities 

raise the kind of concerns ordinarily associated with drug manufacturing. … 

 

B. Factual Background 

 

The April 2009 FDA inspection of your facility revealed, in a Monthly Audit Log dated 

from 11/01/08-04/06/09, that your firm compounded domperidone products for human 

patients on numerous occasions. FDA is concerned with the public health risks associated 

with the compounding of domperidone for human use. There have been several published 

reports and case studies of cardiac arrhythmias, cardiac arrest and sudden death in 

patients receiving an intravenous form of domperidone that has been withdrawn from 

marketing in several countries. Among other uses, FDA has become aware of the use of 

domperidone by lactating women to increase breast milk production because of its effect 

on prolactin levels. While domperidone is approved in several other countries for the 

treatment of gastric stasis and gastroparesis, domperidone is not approved in any country 

for enhancing breast milk production in lactating women. In several countries where the 

oral form of domperidone continues to be marketed, labels for the product note that 

domperidone is excreted in the breast milk of lactating women and recommend that 

women taking domperidone avoid breast-feeding. Because of this, FDA recommends that 

breastfeeding women not use domperidone to increase milk production. 

 

Compounding drugs using domperidone is inappropriate under both the CPG and 

section 503A of the FDCA (21 U.S.C § 353a) [emphasis added]. Under the CPG on 

human drug compounding, FDA considers whether a firm compounds finished drugs 

from bulk active ingredients that are not components of FDA approved drugs, without an 

FDA sanctioned investigational new drug application (IND). Domperidone is not a 

component of an FDA approved drug, and FDA would not exercise its enforcement 

discretion for compounded human drugs containing domperidone [emphasis added]. 

Further, under section 503A (b)(1)(A)(i) of the FDCA (21 U.S.C. § 353a(b)(1)(A)(i)), 

compounded drugs containing domepridone would not be eligible for the exemptions 

provided by section 503A of the FDCA (21 U.S.C § 353a) because domperidone is not 

the subject of an applicable USP or NF monograph, nor is it a component of an FDA-

approved drug. 

 

FDA understands that some patients may need domperidone to treat certain 

gastrointestinal disorders. Physicians who would like to prescribe domperidone for their 

patients may seek to open an IND through the established procedures. Information 

regarding obtaining an IND for Domperidone can be found at 

http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/DrugSafety/lnformationbyDrugClass/ucm073070.htm. It 

should be noted that the IND is obtained by the prescribing physician and not the 

pharmacy. 

 

C. Violations of the FDCA 

 

Misbranded and Unapproved New Drugs 

 

The domperidone products compounded by your firm are drugs within the meaning 

of section 201(g) of the FDCA [21 U.S.C. § 321(g)] [emphasis added]. They are also 
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new drugs under section 201(p) [21 U.S.C. § 321(p)] of the FDCA because they are 

not generally recognized by qualified experts as safe and effective for its labeled uses 
[emphasis added]. These products may not be introduced or delivered into interstate 

commerce under section 505(a) of the FDCA [21 U.S.C. § 355(a)] because no 

approval of an application filed pursuant to section 505 of the FDCA [21 U.S.C. § 

355] is in effect for these products [emphasis added]. Their introduction or delivery 

for introduction into interstate commerce violates section 301(d) of the FDCA [21 

U.S.C. § 331(d)] [emphasis added]. 

 

These products are also misbranded under 502(f)(1) of the Act in that their labeling 

fails to bear adequate direction for their use [emphasis added]. Further, these products 

are not exempt from this requirement under 21 CFR § 201.115, because they are new 

drugs within the meaning of section 201(p) of the Act and they lack approved 

applications filed pursuant to section 505 of the Act. Section 301(a) of the FDCA [21 

U.S.C. § 331 (a)] prohibits the introduction or delivery for introduction into interstate 

commerce of any misbranded drug, and section 301(k) of the FDCA [21 U.S.C. § 331(k)] 

prohibits any act with respect to a drug if the act is done while the drug is held for sale 

after shipment in interstate commerce and results in the drug being misbranded. 

 

D. Conclusion … 

 

You should take prompt action to correct the violations cited in this letter. Failure to 

promptly correct these violations may result in legal action without further notice, 

including, without limitation, seizure and injunction [emphasis added].  

 

June 29, 2012, letter to Wedgewood Pharmacy, Swedesboro, New Jersey
10

 

 

This letter concerns the information that appears on your website regarding Wedgewood 

Pharmacy’s compounding of 17-hydroxyprogesterone caproate (HC). HC is the active 

ingredient in Makena, which, as you know, the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) 

approved in February 2011 for the reduction of the risk of certain preterm births in 

women who have had at least one prior preterm birth. 

 

Your website includes a press release Wedgewood Pharmacy issued on March 30, 2011, 

which interprets a statement issued by FDA the same day. In the press release, titled 

“With FDA green light, Wedgewood Pharmacy continues to compound 17P 

(hydroxyprogesterone caproate)”, Wedgewood Pharmacy acknowledged that “Under 

normal circumstances, compounding pharmacies must stop making a prescription drug 

when the same drug is manufactured as a commercial product.” However, Wedgewood 

Pharmacy interpreted FDA’s March 30, 2011, statement on Makena as “allow[ing] 

compounding pharmacies to continue” compounding hydroxyprogesterone caproate, and 

stated that it would “continue to prepare and dispense 1 ml, 5 ml and 10 ml multi-dose 

vials of 17P (Hydroxyprogesterone Caproate).” Wedgewood Pharmacy’s press statement 

also explained that “for patients with certain sensitivities, for whom the use of 

                                                
10

 The Food and Drug Administration. Letter to Wedgewood Pharmacy. June 29, 2012. Available at 

http://www.fda.gov/downloads/NewsEvents/Newsroom/PressAnnouncements/UCM314387.pdf. Accessed October 

22, 2012. 
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Wedgewood Pharmacy’s regular formulation of 17P is contraindicated, the company also 

will provide a preservative-free 17-alpha hydroxyprogesterone caproate, 250 mg/ml, in 

single-dose vials.” In addition, your website includes a statement titled “FDA’s Review 

of Compounded 17P Finds No Safety or Purity Issues for Enforcement Policy Change,” 

which states that “the FDA found no reason to change its enforcement policies regarding 

compounded Hydroxyprogesterone Caproate.” 

 

We are writing to ensure that Wedgewood Pharmacy is not operating under the 

misimpression that there is a “green light” to compound large volumes of copies of 

Makena. On June 15, 2012, FDA updated the March 30, 2011, statement on compounded 

versions of hydroxyprogesterone caproate. That statement explained: 

 

Compounding large volumes of drugs that are copies of FDA-approved drugs 

circumvents important public health requirements, including the Federal Food, 

Drug, and Cosmetic Act’s drug approval provisions. Consumers and health 

professionals rely on the Act’s evidence-based drug approval process to ensure 

that drugs are safe and effective. For that reason, one factor that the agency 

considers in determining whether a drug may be compounded is whether the 

prescribing practitioner has determined that a compounded product is 

necessary for the particular patient and would provide a significant 

difference for the patient as compared to the FDA-approved commercially 

available drug product [emphasis added]. 

 

The statement also emphasized that FDA is “applying its normal enforcement policies 

for compounded drugs to compounded hydroxyprogesterone caproate,” and that 

the “compounding of any drug, including hydroxyprogesterone caproate, should not 

exceed the scope of traditional pharmacy compounding [emphasis added].” A 

complete copy of the statement is available on FDA’s website at  

http://www.fda.gov/NewsEvents/Newsroom/PressAnnouncements/ucm308546.htm.  

 

As we explained in our October 31, 2006, Warning Letter to you, “[t]raditional 

compounding typically is used to prepare medications that are not available 

commercially, such as a drug for a patient who is allergic to an ingredient in a mass-

produced product, or diluted dosages for children.” The information on your website 

indicates that you compound copies of the commercially available product as well as a 

preservative-free formulation for patients unable to tolerate the product that contains the 

preservative. You should be aware that FDA does not view compounding large 

volumes of drugs that are copies of FDA-approved drugs as traditional pharmacy 

compounding [emphasis added].  

 

The compounding of copies of commercially available drugs is addressed in both 

section 503A of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (21 U.S.C. § 353a) and 

the Agency’s compliance policy guide (CPG) on pharmacy compounding (CPG Sec. 

460.200) [emphasis added]. For a drug to satisfy the conditions in section 503A, a 

pharmacist may “not compound regularly or in inordinate amounts (as defined by the 

Secretary) any drug products that are essentially copies of a commercially available drug 

product.” 21 U.S.C. § 353a(b)(1)(D). Similarly, the CPG identifies factors that the 

Agency considers in deciding whether to initiate enforcement action with respect to 
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compounding. One of the factors listed in the CPG is “Compounding drug products that 

are commercially available in the marketplace or that are essentially copies of 

commercially available FDA-approved drug products. In certain circumstances, it may be 

appropriate for a pharmacist to compound a small quantity of a drug that is only slightly 

different than an FDA-approved drug that is commercially available. In these 

circumstances, FDA will consider whether there is documentation of the medical need for 

the particular variation of the compound for the particular patient.” CPG Sec. 460.200 at 

4-5.  

 

As stated above, FDA does not consider compounding large volumes of copies, or 

what are essentially copies, of any approved commercially available drug to fall 

within the scope of traditional pharmacy practice. A pharmacy that engages in such 

compounding may be subject to enforcement action [emphasis added]. 

 


